MAYWOOD PLANNING BOARD
MINUTES
February 6, 2025

A regular meeting of the Maywood Planning Board was held on Thursday, February 6, 2025 in the
Council Chambers of the Maywood Municipal Building, 15 Park Avenue, Maywood, New Jersey at
7pm. “This Meeting was called pursuant to the provisions of the Open Public Meetings Act. Notice of
this meeting was published in the Our Town and The Record newspapers on or about December 12,
2024. In addition, copies of this notice were posted on the bulletin board in the Maywood Municipal
Building at 15 Park Avenue, filed with the Borough Clerk and distributed to all persons, if any,
requesting copies of same pursuant to said act. This meeting is being recorded with both audio and
video and may be rebroadcast. This meeting is a judicial proceeding, any questions or comments must
be limited to the issues that are relevant to what the Board may legally consider in reaching a decision
and decorum appropriate to a judicial hearing must be maintained at all times.”

Flag Salute

Oaths of Office
Thomas Lindenau — Class IV
Felicia Benson-Kraft — Alternate #1

Call to Order

The meeting was called to order at 7:00pm with the following members present:
Mayor’s Designee Jacqueline DeMuro
Councilperson Douglas Herrick

Chairperson Charlotte Panny

Vice Chairperson Anthony Klymenko

Secretary Gary Neumann

John Gargagliano

Harry Hillenius

Thomas Lindenau

Felicia Benson-Kraft

Thomas Anzevino

Board Attorney John Ferraro

Board Engineer & Board Planner Gregory Polyniak

Approval of Minutes

Councilperson Douglas Herrick made a motion to accept the minutes from the January 23, 2025
meeting. Vice Chairperson Anthony Klymenko seconded the motion. All eligible members present
voted in favor of the motion.

Bills
John Gargagliano made a motion to accept payment of the bills. Thomas Lindenau seconded the
motion. All eligible members present voted in favor of the motion.

Correspondence
1. 1/23/25 letter from Board Engineer Gregory Polyniak Re: The Grass Cab 949 Spring Valley
Road Completeness, Planning & Engineering Review

Page 1
2.6.25 PB Minutes.docx



2. 1/27/25 letter from Alexander J. Lomei and Bradford A. Bohler of Bohler Engineering NJ Re:
Duke Realty 241 Route 17 North (formerly 149-151 Maywood Avenue) Freshwater Wetlands
General Permit 2 Application

3. 1/28/25 Adopted Borough Resolution #64-25 Authorizing Declaratory Judgement Round 4
Affordable Housing Obligations

4. 1/28/25 Adopted Borough Resolution #71-25 Approving Maywood Redevelopment as
Developer

5. 1/29/25 Complaint to New Jersey Superior Court from Borough Fair Share Housing Counsel
Patrick McNamara Re: Declaratory Judgment of Compliance with the Fair Housing Act

6. 1/30/25 letter from Board Planner Gregory Polyniak Re: Floor Area Ratio Ordinances #8-24 and
#9-24 Review

7. 2/3/25 letter from Board Recording Secretary Tara Grunstra Re: Acct #9707 SHDK, LLC 24-30
West Pleasant Avenue Escrow Shortage

8. 2/3/25 letter from Board Recording Secretary Tara Grunstra Re: Acct #9785 New Look Homes
Design 341 Maywood Avenue Escrow Shortage

Resolution None
Completeness Hearing None
Application Hearing #1 Megaleaf
231 West Passaic Street

Block 86, Lot 21
Calendar #2024-06
Site Plan Application

Board Attorney John Ferraro reminded the Board that the Applicant received approval at the 12/5/24
meeting but was not represented by an attorney which was required for an LLC. As such, the Applicant
has returned to the Board with legal representation and the Board should treat this as a new hearing.
Jennifer Berardo of Wells, Jaworski & Liebman represented the Applicant, Megaleaf. She explained
that owner Dan McCarthy wished to open a Class 1 cannabis cultivation and Class 2 cannabis
manufacturing business at the subject property which was a permitted use in the Limited Light Industrial
(LL) zone. She described the existing conditions of the subject property and said that the Applicant was
seeking minor site plan approval. She noted that the Applicant received resolutions of support from the
Mayor and Council on 1/28/25. She described the proposed minor changes to the parking lot striping
and building fagade.

Ms. Berardo called her only witness, Applicant Dan McCarthy who was sworn in. Mr. McCarthy
provided his background, education, work experience and the process for obtaining a cannabis cultivator
and manufacturer license. Ms. Berardo marked Borough Resolution #57-25 Class 1 Cannabis Cultivator
as Exhibit A-1 and Borough Resolution #58-25 Class 2 Cannabis Manufacturer as Exhibit A-2. Mr.
McCarthy summarized the business operations and proposed security. He described the proposed odor
mitigation system and explained that there was no signage proposed. He detailed the timing and how
the products would be distributed to dispensaries. He confirmed that he would satisfy all state and local
requirements. He discussed the water and sewer usage and how the sewer lateral line was found to be in
good condition when it was televised. Mr. McCarthy detailed the irrigation system and said that he
would use a private company to collect the green waste on a weekly basis. He then displayed the site
plan and detailed the existing conditions and proposed changes. He described the growing process and

Page 2
2.6.25 PB Minutes.docx



how each room in the building would have a specific function. He detailed the existing and proposed
exterior lighting. Ms. Berardo marked the proposed light map as Exhibit A-3. Mr. McCarthy confirmed
that the proposed lighting plan would satisfy Borough code. Regarding Board Engineer/Planner Greg
Polyniak’s 12/2/24 review, Mr. McCarthy agreed to address all the comments and conditions.

Board Attorney John Ferraro invited the public to ask questions of Mr. McCarthy. Maywood Fire
Official Thomas Tuttle asked which chemicals would be stored on-site. Mr. McCarthy answered that no
volatile chemicals would be stored. He added that he would use four non-abrasive chemicals to feed the
plants and the quantity would be a few gallons of each. When asked about pesticides, he said that he
would spray natural neem oil on the plants and use yellow fly traps to capture the gnats that find their
way into the building.

Chairperson Charlotte Panny asked Board Engineer/Planner Greg Polyniak if he had any questions. He
confirmed that the location of the ADA parking space would be on the next site plan submission. Mr.
McCarthy agreed to submit his plans to Bergen County as West Passaic Street was a county roadway.
Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak confirmed that new gas service was not needed and any utility
upgrades would be at the Applicant’s cost. He then confirmed that the product distribution plans would
be shared with the Maywood Police Department. Mr. McCarthy agreed to hire a police officer during
product distribution if it was recommended by the MPD.

Chairperson Panny invited the Board to ask questions of Mr. McCarthy. Thomas Anzevino inquired
when the business would be open. Mr. McCarthy replied that he was hoping receive his state license in
3 months which would coincide with the completion of construction. John Gargagliano questioned
changing the electrical panel which was mentioned earlier by Mr. McCarthy. Mr. McCarthy explained
that the panel was very old and should be replaced but the 300 AMP service was sufficient for his needs.
Mr. Gargagliano confirmed that any chemicals on-site would be properly marked and safely stored.
Chairperson Panny questioned if the proposed front door relocation was for security reasons. Mr.
McCarthy replied that it was a security consideration and the new door location worked well with the
proposed interior layout. Councilperson Douglas Herrick remarked that the business would be
nondescript and would not be open to the public. Mr. McCarthy agreed. Mr. Gargagliano asked if there
were plans to expand the business. Mr. McCarthy answered that the building could be enlarged without
violating the setback requirements but any expansion would be far in the future. When asked, Board
Engineer/Planner Polyniak advised that the Applicant would need to return to the Board should he want
to enlarge the building. Mayor’s Designee Jacqueline DeMuro confirmed with Board Engineer/Planner
Polyniak that he would review the revised lighting plan.

Chairperson Panny invited the public to comment on the application but no one came forward. Ms.
Berardo summarized the application.

John Gargagliano made a motion to approve the application. Harry Hillenius seconded the motion. All
eligible members present voted in favor of the motion.

Application Hearing #2 The Grass Cab
949 Spring Valley Road
Block 1, Lots2 & 4
Calendar #2024-08
Variance & Site Plan Application

Page 3
2.6.25 PB Minutes.docx



Variances

Lot 2

1-Minimum front yard setback (25’ required vs. 15.08’
existing/proposed)

2-Depth of newly constructed curb (20” required vs. 18 proposed)

3-Minimum number of parking spaces (118 required vs. 114
existing/proposed)

4-Minimum number of ADA parking spaces (5 required vs. 2
existing/proposed)

5-Parking space dimensions (9’ x 18’ required vs. 7° x 18’
existing/proposed)

6-ADA parking space width (12’ required vs. less than 12’
existing/proposed)

Lot4

1-Minimum front yard setback (25’ required vs. 24.40’
existing/proposed)

2-Parking space dimensions (9 x 18’ required vs. 8.85’ x 18’ proposed)

3-ADA parking space width (12’ required vs. less than 8 proposed)

Thomas Garlick of Murphy, Schiller & Wilkes represented the Applicant, The Grass Cab. He said that
the Applicant was seeking site plan approval for a cannabis dispensary. He noted that the use was
permitted but there were several variances being sought. He explained that the bulk of the use would be
on Lot 4 while Lot 2 would be utilized for overflow parking. He stated that the Applicant would not
alter the building on Lot 4 but would be changing the interior layout. He added that there would be
repairs made to the Lot 4 parking lot as well as restriping. Mr. Garlick then introduced his witnesses;
operators Joseph and Shavon Wright, engineer/planner Christopher Nusser and cannabis consultant Ellie
Siegel.

Mr. Garlick’s first witnesses were operators Shavon and Joseph Wright who were both sworn in. Mrs.
Wright said that she was a majority owner of The Grass Cab LLC and explained that they have an
operational partner with extensive professional cannabis experience. She also provided her background
and the status of their NJ Cannabis Regulatory Commission license. She then described the business
operations and detailed the dispensary layout. She noted that they would be accepting online orders for
customer pick-up. She emphasized that all products were sealed and no loose products would be
available. She stated that there would not be any odor associated with the products but noted that they
would comply with Borough ordinance requiring a special HVAC system. Mr. Wright described how
deliveries would be made to the business. He explained that the basement would be used for storage of
non-cannabis materials. He added that the second floor would have a vault for cannabis products, a
manager’s office, an employee break room, an employee bathroom and an IT security area. He said that
the Borough and State have a copy of their security plan which was developed by a cannabis security
consultant. He stated that hours of operation have not been finalized but would comply with the
Borough code. Mrs. Wright stated that they expected to have 6-11 employees working staggered shifts.
While they have the compliant number of parking spaces on-site (Lot 4), Mrs. Wright explained that
they plan to lease 30 parking spaces in the rear of Lot 2 to ensure that they have sufficient parking. She
noted that traffic would be one-way from Lot 4 to Lot 2. Regarding signage, she said that they propose
to replace the current signage with their information and the signage dimensions would remain the same.
Mr. Wright advised that regular trash would be collected by a private hauler. He added that cannabis
trash would be collected by a green waste company. Mrs. Wright confirmed that on-site consumption

Page 4
2.6.25 PB Minutes.docx



would not be permitted. She also confirmed that there would be no depictions of cannabis paraphernalia
in the signage or windows.

Board Attorney John Ferraro invited the public to ask questions of Mr. and Mrs. Wright. Cynthia
Sansone of 222 West Spring Valley Avenue asked if the business would operate on Sundays. She said
that there was too much traffic in the area on Saturdays. She has observed the parking lot at 255 West
Spring Valley Avenue (Lot 2) completely full with people forced to park on Briarcliff Avenue. She
advised that there was no on-street parking on either Spring Valley Avenue nor Spring Valley Road.
Board Attorney Ferraro recommended that she wait until after the engineer/planner testifies as he may
answer her questions. Mr. Garlick reviewed the Borough code and answered that Sunday hours are
permitted. Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak agreed with that assessment.

Chairperson Panny invited the Board to ask questions of Mr. and Mrs. Wright. Board Engineer/Planner
Polyniak requested that the trash receptacle area in the front of the building be relocated to the rear.

Mrs. Wright agreed to that request. Chairperson Panny confirmed that the signage lighting would not
change. Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak inquired if the Applicant would agree to pay for a Maywood
Police Officer to be present during the product delivery times should the Department feel that it was
necessary for security. Mrs. Wright agreed to that request. Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak mentioned
the high traffic volumes when the Ascend dispensary opened for business on Route 17 in Rochelle Park.
He asked if the Applicant would agree to pay for a Maywood Police Officer to direct traffic if needed.
Mrs. Wright agreed.

The next witness was engineer/planner Christopher Nusser who was sworn in, qualified and accepted.
He displayed the site plan and then summarized the existing conditions and proposed changes. He
described how traffic would enter and exit the site and access the overflow parking area on Lot 2. He
noted that the overflow parking spaces would not be exclusive or marked with signage so they would be
available for either business. He emphasized that Lot 4 satisfies the parking requirement. He
acknowledged the width of the parking spaces in the rear of Lot 4 were slightly smaller than what was
required but feels it was a good solution given the existing structures. He added that the Lot 4 rear
parking lot has hairpin striping between parking spaces. He said that the Lot 4 parking lot grading and
curbing would not change. He stated that the impervious coverage would increase by only 19 square
feet which he considered de minimis. He reviewed the proposed lighting plan as several of the existing
fixtures were either broken or damaged. Should the application be approved, he agreed to incorporate
the lighting plan into the site plan set. He reviewed the proposed signage which would conform to the
Borough code.

Per Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak’s review, Mr. Nusser summarized the requested variance reliefs.
Regarding setback non-conformities, he cited hardship as the buildings were existing. Regarding the
Lot 2 parking variance for 4 parking spaces and 3 ADA parking spaces, he described it as an existing
non-conforming condition. Regarding the parking space dimension deficiency, he cited the hairpin
striping that contributes to the non-conformity. He said that if measured to the center of the hairpin, the
stalls would measure 9°. Regarding the ADA parking space width deficiency on Lot 2, he stated that it
was an existing non-conformity and the overflow parking would not include these parking spaces.
Regarding the ADA parking space width deficiency on Lot 4, he noted the 8’ striped area adjacent to the
ADA parking space brings the total width to 16’. He added that it meets the accessibility standard in the
Building subcode.

Page 5
2.6.25 PB Minutes.docx



Mr. Nusser addressed the engineering comments from Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak’s review. He
said that in case of a fire at Lot 4, the fire truck would not be parked on the property but instead be
parked along Spring Valley Road. He reminded the Board that the building was existing and the
proposed access to Lot 2 would allow better access for emergency services. Board Engineer/Planner
Polyniak said that his comment was more about ambulance access and if there was a car fire. He
requested that the Applicant submit the plans to the Fire Department to determine if a turning template
would be necessary. Mr. Nusser agreed to submit the plans to the Fire Department but did not want to
leave the issue open ended. Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak requested that Mr. Nusser meet with the
Fire Department and said that he believed that the they could settle the issue together. Mr. Nusser
agreed and accepted the request to provide an EV parking space. He noted that the only space that could
accommodate a charger would be the ADA parking space and Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak
concurred. Per the statute, Mr. Nusser explained that the EV parking space would count as two spaces
so they would be providing 11 parking spaces total on Lot 4. He said that the parking lot milling and
paving would occur in certain areas where needed. Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak agreed and
suggested keying it in to avoid weak points.

Regarding lighting the signage, Mr. Nusser explained that the sign would be downlit. He noted the Lot
4 property was in a flood hazard area but would not be required to submit to the State as the grading
would not change. Regarding easement, Mr. Garlick explained that the Applicant was working on a
parking space lease with the owners of Lot 2. When asked about the lease terms, Mr. Garlick answered
that the initial term was 5 years with 3 renewal terms of 5 years. Should the lease not be renewed, he
reminded the Board that Lot 4 has conforming parking and the properties would be returned to their
original condition. Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak confirmed that the Lot 2 owners’ approval was
submitted. He asked how Lot 2 would perform with a 30 parking spaces being used by the Applicant
when there was an existing 4 space deficiency and if there was a parking analysis conducted. Mr.
Nusser said that a parking analysis was not done but noted that the peak time for Lot 2 was weekday
daytime while peak time for Lot 4 would be weekday evenings and weekends. Board Engineer/Polyniak
suggested counting the cars on Lot 2 to determine that the parking would be sufficient and patrons
would not be forced to park on side streets. Mr. Nusser said that Lot 4 was providing the conforming
number of parking spaces and Lot 2 would only be used as overflow. He added that the Applicant has
agreed to pay for a Police Officer to direct traffic should the need arise. He explained that the traffic
related to dispensaries has dropped as more dispensaries have opened. Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak
requested a copy of the parking space lease with Lot 2 and Mr. Nusser agreed. Mr. Nusser confirmed
that Do Not Enter signage would be posted at Lot 2 as traffic would only be in one direction. He agreed
to replace sidewalk and curbing if damaged during construction and fix the adjoining properties if they
were damaged during construction. He stated that they are not proposing any changes to the utility
connections as this use has less demand than the previous use as an oral surgeon. He offered to add
calculations to the site plan. He agreed to televise the sanitary sewer lateral. He stated that the
Applicant understood that they would be responsible for any utility upgrades but he doesn’t think that
they would be needed. Regarding the dimensions of the curbing connecting the driveway from Lot 4 to
Lot 2, he agreed to add the two spot grades to the site plan. Regarding the landscape, he agreed to
replace any dead vegetation.

Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak requested testimony on traffic, trip generation and parking. Mr.
Nusser said that retail use was permitted in the zone and doesn’t expect a substantial traffic increase
once the initial surge subsides. He stated that most patrons would plan their visit to avoid heavy traffic.
Mr. Garlick added that the Applicant has agreed to pay for a police officer to direct traffic. Board
Engineer/Planner Polyniak asked for testimony regarding how Lot 2 parking would be affected should

Page 6
2.6.25 PB Minutes.docx



all 30 leased parking spaces be occupied. Mr. Nusser explained that peak times for the two businesses
are different. Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak inquired how the peak times were determined and if the
Applicant made observations on the Lot 2 peak parking times. Mr. Nusser repeated that a parking
analysis was not conducted but noted that the patrons would visit the dispensary at the end of their
workday. He said that the medical offices close at 5pm and the peak dispensary times are weekdays
after 5pm and all day on the weekends. Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak asked for a parking analysis
that supports Mr. Nusser’s testimony as a condition of approval. Should the parking analysis differ from
Mr. Nusser’s testimony, Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak asked that Mr. Nusser return to the Board to
provide additional testimony. Mr. Nusser noted that the parking provided at Lot 4 would satisfy the
Borough code. Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak explained that his concern was for the Lot 2 parking
lot to function properly. Mr. Garlick conferred with his clients and agreed to provide a traffic impact
study as a condition of approval. Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak explained that the Board may want
to review the study prior to rendering a decision. Tom Anzevino said that he would prefer to review the
study prior to voting on the application. Mayor’s Designee Jacqueline DeMuro agreed. Councilperson
Douglas Herrick confirmed that the 6-11 employees discussed earlier in the hearing would be the total
number. He inquired how many employees would be on-site during a typical shift. Mrs. Wright
answered that there would be 6-8 employees during a shift. Councilperson Herrick noted that out of the
10 available parking spots provided on Lot 4, 6-8 parking spaces could be occupied by employees.
Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak detailed what information he would like included in the traffic and
parking analysis. Chairperson Panny polled the Board to determine if they would like to review the
traffic and parking study prior to deciding on the application. All the members present voted in favor of
reviewing the traffic and parking study prior to rendering a decision on the application. Mr. Nusser
advised that he had concluded his engineering testimony but would wait to provide his planning
testimony until after the study was reviewed at a future meeting.

Chairperson Panny invited the Board to ask questions of Mr. Nusser. John Gargagliano said that he
agreed with Mr. Nusser that the novelty of cannabis has diminished since the first dispensaries opened.
Mayor’s Designee DeMuro concurred and has observed the decline in traffic around the Ascend
dispensary on Route 17. Chairperson Panny asked if a 7° wide parking space could accommodate larger
vehicles that are so common. Mr. Nusser answered that the existing parking spaces on Lot 2 have
hairpin striping and the space should be measured from the center of the hairpin which was sufficiently
sized.

Board Attorney John Ferraro invited the public to ask questions of Mr. Nusser. Cynthia Sansone of 222
West Spring Valley Avenue said that she has observed the Lot 2 parking lot being full. She did not have
questions for Mr. Nusser.

Chairperson Panny asked if the study could be complete by 4/3/25 which was the next available hearing
date. Mr. Garlick said that the report would be prepared by the proposed date. Chairperson Panny
announced to the public that the hearing was adjourned until 4/3/25 without need for additional notice.

Informal Hearing None
Closed Session None
Old Business

e Borough Ordinances #8-24 and #9-24
o Mayor’s Designee DeMuro and Councilperson Herrick recused themselves and stepped

Page 7
2.6.25 PB Minutes.docx



down from the dais
o Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak prepared a 1/30/25 review of the Borough Floor Area Ratio
(FAR) ordinances
= He explained that the Borough was developing Floor Area Ratio (FAR) ordinances to
keep development on larger lots in character with the existing dwellings in the
neighborhood
= He stated that the Borough was considering a maximum FAR of 50%
e He said that a 50% maximum FAR may create a hardship for an owner of a smaller
property so he provided a sliding scale with property lot sizes of:
o 4,500 square feet or less having a maximum FAR of 60%
o 4,501-5,000 square feet having a maximum FAR of 55%
o 5,000 square feet or more having a maximum FAR of 50%
e In his review, he listed the number of properties grouped by lot size in the A-1 zone
with 2,004 of the 2,571 total properties being 5,000 square feet or more
e Anthony Klymenko noted that approximately 80% of the properties would have the
50% FAR
o He said that he would like to see the 5,000 square foot category broken down into
smaller increments since it accounts for such a large percentage of the Borough
properties
= Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak agreed to that suggestion
o Mr. Klymenko said that building coverage was measured to the eaves while FAR
was measured to the exterior walls
= He suggested reviewing how those two measurements work together
e Board Engineer/Planner Polyniak agreed and stated that the required
setbacks should also be considered
o Mayor’s Designee DeMuro and Councilperson Herrick rejoined the
dais
e Adoption of Rules on Citizen Input During Planning Board Meetings
o Mayor’s Designee DeMuro confirmed that the rules were updated to reflect the new meeting
start time of 7pm
o Thomas Anzevino made a motion to adopt the updated rules and Anthony Klymenko
seconded the motion
= All eligible members voted in favor of the motion

New Business None

Open Meeting to the Public

Adjournment

A motion to adjourn the meeting was made by Harry Hillenius. Thomas Lindenau seconded the motion.

All eligible members present voted in favor of the motion. The meeting was adjourned at 9:10pm.

Respectfully submitted,

Tara Grunstra
Planning Board Recording Secretary

Page 8
2.6.25 PB Minutes.docx



